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NOTICE

NOTICE is hereby given that the 13th Adjourned Annual General Meeting of shareholders 
of Kannur International Airport Limited will be held at 3.30 pm on Thursday, 20 July 2023 
through Video Conferencing (VC)/ Other Audio-Visual Means (OAVM), to transact the  
following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:
1. To consider and adopt the Annual Accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 March 

2022 together with Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report thereon.

“RESOLVED THAT the audited financial statement of the Company for the financial year 
ended 31 March, 2022 along with the Directors’ Report and Auditor’s Report laid before this 
meeting, be and are hereby considered and adopted.”

2. Appointment of Statutory Auditors of the Company for a Consecutive Term of Five years:

To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following resolution 
as an ORDINARY RESOLUTION: 

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to provision of Sections 139, 142 and other applicable provisions, 
if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 
(including any statutory modification thereof for the time being in force and as may be enacted 
from time to time), approval of the members of the Company be and is hereby accorded for 
appointment of M/s. Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy, Ernakulam (Registration Number: 
001488S) as Statutory Auditors of the Company from the conclusion of 13th  Adjourned Annual 
General Meeting until the conclusion of 18th  Annual General Meeting on the same terms and 
conditions as that of FY 2021-22.”

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Chief Financial Officer or the Company Secretary, be 
and is hereby authorized to do all such acts and deeds including filing of necessary forms with 
registrar of companies for implementing the aforesaid decision of the Company.”

Sd/-
Jayakrishnan S.

Chief Financial Officer
Date : 20 March 2023
Place: Kannur

By order of the Board
For Kannur International Airport Limited
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Notes: 

1. In view of the continuing Covid -19 pandemic, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs has vide 
its General Circular No. 10/2022 dated 28 December 2022, granted an extension to conduct 
the AGM through Video Conferencing (VC) or other audio visual means (OAVM) till  
30 September 2023. In compliance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and 
MCA Circulars, the AGM of the Company is being held through VC/OAVM.

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint 
a proxy to attend and vote instead of himself /herself and such proxy need not be a member 
of the Company. Since this AGM is being held pursuant to the MCA Circulars through 
VC/OAVM, the physical attendance of members has been dispensed with. Accordingly, the 
facility for appointment of proxies by the members will not be available for the AGM and 
hence the Proxy Form and Attendance Slip are not annexed to this notice.

3. The notice of the AGM is being sent physically to the registered address of the shareholders 
and through electronic mode to those members whose email addresses are registered with the 
Company. Members may please note that the Notice will also be available on the Company’s 
website (www.kannurairport.aero).

4. The register of members and share transfer books of the Company will remain closed from 
14 July 2023 to 20 July 2023 both days inclusive.

5. Any person holding shares in physical form and non-individual shareholders, who acquires 
shares of the Company and becomes member of the Company after  the notice is send through 
e-mail and holding shares as of the cut-off date i.e. 13 July 2023, may obtain the login 
ID and password by sending a request at evoting@nsdl.co.in or Issuer/RTA (irrespective 
of NSDL/CDSL account holders). However, if you are already registered with NSDL for 
remote e-voting, then you can use your existing user ID and password for casting your 
vote. If you forgot your password, you can reset your password by using “Forgot User 
Details/Password” or “Physical User Reset Password” option available on www.evoting.
nsdl.com or call on toll free no. 022 48867000 and 022 24997000. In case of Individual 
Shareholders holding securities in demat mode who acquires shares of the Company and 
becomes a Member of the Company after sending of the Notice and holding shares as of the 
cut-off date i.e.  13 July 2023 may follow steps mentioned in the Notice of the AGM under 
“Access to NSDL/CDSL e-voting system”.



713TH ANNUAL REPORT 2022-23

VOTING THROUGH ELECTRONIC MEANS

1. In view of the massive outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, social distancing is a norm 
to be followed and pursuant to the Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 08, 2020, Circular 
No.17/2020 dated April 13, 2020 issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs followed by 
Circular No. 20/2020 dated May 05, 2020 and Circular No. 02/2021 dated January 13, 2021 
and all other relevant circulars issued from time to time, physical attendance of the Members 
to the AGM venue is not required and general meeting be held through video conferencing 
(VC) or other audio visual means (OAVM). Hence, Members can attend and participate in 
the ensuing AGM through VC/OAVM.

2. Pursuant to the Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 08, 2020, issued by the Ministry of 
Corporate Affairs, the facility to appoint proxy to attend and cast vote for the members is 
not available for this AGM. However, the Body Corporates are entitled to appoint authorised 
representatives to attend the AGM through VC/OAVM and participate there at and cast their 
votes through e-voting.

3. The Members can join the AGM in the VC/OAVM mode 15 minutes before and after the 
scheduled time of the commencement of the Meeting by following the procedure mentioned 
in the Notice. The facility of participation at the AGM through VC/OAVM will be made 
available for 1000 members on first come first served basis. This will not include large 
Shareholders (Shareholders holding 2% or more shareholding), Promoters, Institutional 
Investors, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel, the Chairpersons of the Audit Committee, 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Stakeholders Relationship Committee, 
Auditors etc. who are allowed to attend the AGM without restriction on account of first 
come first served basis.

4. The attendance of the Members attending the AGM through VC/OAVM will be counted for 
the purpose of reckoning the quorum under Section 103 of the Companies Act, 2013.

5. Pursuant to theaprovisions of Section 108 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 
20 of the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 (as amended) and 
Regulation 44 of SEBI (Listing Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015 
(as amended), and the Circulars issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs dated April 
08, 2020, April 13, 2020 and May 05, 2020 the Company is providing facility of remote 
e-Voting to its Members in respect of the business to be transacted at the AGM. For this 
purpose, the Company has entered into an agreement with National Securities Depository 
Limited (NSDL) for facilitating voting through electronic means, as the authorized agency. 
The facility of casting votes by a member using remote e-Voting system as well as venue 
voting on the date of the AGM will be provided by NSDL.

6. In line with the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) Circular No. 17/2020 dated April 
13, 2020, the Notice calling the AGM has been uploaded on the website of the Company 
at www.kannurairport.aero. The AGM Notice is also available on the website of NSDL 
(agency for providing the Remote e-Voting facility) i.e. www.evoting.nsdl.com.

7. AGM has been convened through VC/OAVM in compliance with applicable provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013 read with MCA Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 08, 2020 and 
MCA Circular No. 17/2020 dated April 13, 2020, MCA Circular No. 20/2020 dated May 05, 
2020, MCA Circular No. 2/2021 dated January 13, 2021 and MCA Circular No. 10/2022 
dated December 28, 2022.
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THE INSTRUCTIONS FOR MEMBERS FOR REMOTE E-VOTING 
AND JOINING GENERAL MEETING ARE AS UNDER:-

The remote e-voting period begins on 17 July 2023 at 9.00 A.M. and ends on 19 July 2023 at 
5.00 P.M. The remote e-voting module shall be disabled by NSDL for voting thereafter. The 
Members, whose names appear in the Register of Members / Beneficial Owners as on the 
record date (cut-off date) i.e. 13 July 2023 may cast their vote electronically. The voting right 
of shareholders shall be in proportion to their share in the paid-up equity share capital of the 
Company as on the cut-off date, being 13 July 2023.

How do I vote electronically using NSDL e-Voting system?

The way to vote electronically on NSDL e-Voting system consists of “Two Steps” which are  
mentioned below:
Step 1: Access to NSDL e-Voting system

A. Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual meeting for Individual shareholders 
holding securities in demat mode

 In terms of SEBI circular dated December 9, 2020 on e-Voting facility provided by Listed 
Companies, Individual shareholders holding securities in demat mode are allowed to vote 
through their demat account maintained with Depositories and Depository Participants. 
Shareholders are advised to update their mobile number and email Id in their demat accounts 
in order to access e-Voting facility.

 Login method for Individual shareholders holding securities in demat mode is given below:

Type of shareholders  Login Method

Individual 
Shareholders holding 
securities in demat 
mode with NSDL.

1. Existing IDeAS user can visit the e-Services website of NSDL 
Viz. https://eservices.nsdl.com either on a Personal Computer 
or on a mobile. On the e-Services home page click on the 
“Beneficial Owner” icon under “Login” which is available 
under ‘IDeAS’ section, this will prompt you to enter your 
existing User ID and Password. After successful authentication, 
you will be able to see e-Voting services under Value added 
services. Click on “Access to e-Voting” under e-Voting services 
and you will be able to see e-Voting page. Click on company 
name or e-Voting service provider i.e. NSDL and you will be 
re-directed to e-Voting website of NSDL for casting your vote 
during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & 
voting during the meeting.

2. If you are not registered for IDeAS e-Services, option to register 
is available at https://eservices.nsdl.com.  Select “Register 
Online for IDeAS Portal” or click at https://eservices.nsdl.com/
SecureWeb/IdeasDirectReg.jsp.
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3. Visit the e-Voting website of NSDL. Open web browser by 
typing the following URL: https://www.evoting.nsdl.com/ 
either on a Personal Computer or on a mobile. Once the home 
page of e-Voting system is launched, click on the icon “Login” 
which is available under ‘Shareholder/Member’ section. A 
new screen will open. You will have to enter your User ID (i.e. 
your sixteen digit demat account number hold with NSDL), 
Password/OTP and a Verification Code as shown on the screen. 
After successful authentication, you will be redirected to NSDL 
Depository site wherein you can see e-Voting page. Click on 
company name or e-Voting service provider i.e. NSDL and 
you will be redirected to e-Voting website of NSDL for casting 
your vote during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual 
meeting & voting during the meeting. 

4. Shareholders/Members can also download NSDL Mobile App 
“NSDL Speede” facility by scanning the QR code mentioned 
below for seamless voting experience.

Individual 
Shareholders holding 
securities in demat 
mode with CDSL

1. Users who have opted for CDSL Easi / Easiest facility, can 
login through their existing user id and password. Option will 
be made available to reach e-Voting page without any further 
authentication. The users to login Easi /Easiest are requested to 
visit CDSL website www.cdslindia.com and click on login icon 
& New System Myeasi Tab and then user your existing my easi 
username & password.

2. After successful login the Easi / Easiest user will be able to see 
the e-Voting option for eligible companies where the evoting 
is in progress as per the information provided by company. On 
clicking the evoting option, the user will be able to see e-Voting 
page of the e-Voting service provider for casting your vote during 
the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & voting 
during the meeting. Additionally, there is also links provided to 
access the system of all e-Voting Service Providers, so that the 
user can visit the e-Voting service providers’ website directly.

3. If the user is not registered for Easi/Easiest, option to register 
is available at CDSL website www.cdslindia.com and click on 
login & New System Myeasi Tab and then click on registration 
option.



10 13TH ANNUAL REPORT 2022-23

4. Alternatively, the user can directly access e-Voting page by 
providing Demat Account Number and PAN No. from a e-Voting 
link available on www.cdslindia.com home page. The system 
will authenticate the user by sending OTP on registered Mobile 
& Email as recorded in the Demat Account. After successful 
authentication, user will be able to see the e-Voting option where 
the evoting is in progress and also able to directly access the 
system of all e-Voting Service Providers.

Individual 
Shareholders (holding 
securities in demat 
mode) login through 
their depository 
participants 

You can also login using the login credentials of your demat account 
through your Depository Participant registered with NSDL/CDSL for 
e-Voting facility. upon logging in, you will be able to see e-Voting 
option. Click on e-Voting option, you will be redirected to NSDL/CDSL 
Depository site after successful authentication, wherein you can see 
e-Voting feature. Click on company name or e-Voting service provider 
i.e. NSDL and you will be redirected to e-Voting website of NSDL for 
casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual 
meeting & voting during the meeting.

Important note : Members who are unable to retrieve User ID/ Password are advised to use 
Forget User ID and Forget Password option available at above mentioned website.

Helpdesk for Individual Shareholders holding securities in demat mode for any technical 
issues related to login through Depository i.e. NSDL and CDSL.

Login type Helpdesk details

Individual Shareholders holding 
securities in demat mode with 
NSDL.

Members facing any technical issue in login can contact 
NSDL helpdesk by sending a request at  evoting@nsdl.
co.in or call at 022 - 4886 7000 and 022 - 2499 7000

Individual Shareholders holding 
securities in demat mode with 
CDSL 

Members facing any technical issue in login can contact 
CDSL helpdesk by sending a request at helpdesk.evoting@
cdslindia.com or contact at toll free no. 1800 22 55 33

B. Login Method for e-Voting and joining virtual meeting for shareholders other than  
Individual shareholders holding securities in demat mode and shareholders holding  
securities in physical mode.

How to Log-in to NSDL e-Voting website ?

1. Visit the e-Voting website of NSDL. Open web browser by typing the following URL: 
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https://www.evoting.nsdl.com/ either on a Personal Computer or on a mobile. 

2. Once the home page of e-Voting system is launched, click on the icon “Login” which is 
available under ‘Shareholder/Member’ section.

3. A new screen will open. You will have to enter your User ID, your Password/OTP and a 
Verification Code as shown on the screen.

Alternatively, if you are registered for NSDL eservices i.e. IDEAS, you can log-in at https://
eservices.nsdl.com/ with your existing IDEAS login. Once you log-in to NSDL eservices 
after using your log-in credentials, click on e-Voting and you can proceed to Step 2 i.e. Cast 
your vote electronically.

4. Your User ID details are given below :

Manner of holding shares i.e. Demat 
(NSDL or CDSL) or Physical

 Your User ID is:

a) For Members who hold shares in   
demat account with NSDL.

8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digit Client ID

For example if your DP ID is IN300*** and Client ID 
is 12****** then your user ID is IN300***12******.

b) For Members who hold shares in 
demat account with CDSL.

16 Digit Beneficiary ID

For example if your Beneficiary ID is 
12************** then your user ID is 
12**************

c) For Members holding shares in 
Physical Form.

EVEN Number followed by Folio Number registered 
with the company

For example if folio number is 001*** and EVEN is 
101456 then user ID is 101456001***

5. Password details for shareholders other than Individual shareholders are given below: 

a) If you are already registered for e-Voting, then you can user your existing password 
to login and cast your vote.

b) If you are using NSDL e-Voting system for the first time, you will need to retrieve 
the ‘initial password’ which was communicated to you. Once you retrieve your 
‘initial password’, you need to enter the ‘initial password’ and the system will force 
you to change your password.

c) How to retrieve your ‘initial password’?

i) (i) If your email ID is registered in your demat account or with the company, 
your ‘initial password’ is communicated to you on your email ID. Trace the 
email sent to you from NSDL from your mailbox. Open the email and open the 
attachment i.e. a .pdf file. Open the .pdf file. The password to open the .pdf file 
is your 8 digit client ID for NSDL account, last 8 digits of client ID for CDSL 
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account or folio number for shares held in physical form. The .pdf file contains 
your ‘User ID’ and your ‘initial password’. 

ii) If your email ID is not registered, please follow steps mentioned below in 
process for those shareholders whose email ids are not registered. 

6.  If you are unable to retrieve or have not received the “ Initial password” or have forgotten  
 your password:

a)  Click on “Forgot User Details/Password?”(If you are holding shares in your demat 
account with NSDL or CDSL) option available on www.evoting.nsdl.com.

b) Physical User Reset Password?” (If you are holding shares in physical mode) option 
available on www.evoting.nsdl.com.

c) If you are still unable to get the password by aforesaid two options, you can send a 
request at evoting@nsdl.co.in mentioning your demat account number/folio number, 
your PAN, your name and your registered address etc.

d) Members can also use the OTP (One Time Password) based login for casting the 
votes on the e-Voting system of NSDL.

7. After entering your password, tick on Agree to “Terms and Conditions” by selecting on  
 the check box.
8. Now, you will have to click on “Login” button.
9. After you click on the “Login” button, Home page of e-Voting will open.

Step 2: Cast your vote electronically and join General Meeting on NSDL e-Voting system.

How to cast your vote electronically and join General Meeting on NSDL e-Voting system?

1. After successful login at Step 1, you will be able to see all the companies “EVEN” in which 
you are holding shares and whose voting cycle and General Meeting is in active status.

2. Select “EVEN” of company for which you wish to cast your vote during the remote e-Voting 
period and casting your vote during the General Meeting. For joining virtual meeting, you 
need to click on “VC/OAVM” link placed under “Join Meeting”.

3. Now you are ready for e-Voting as the Voting page opens.

4. Cast your vote by selecting appropriate options i.e. assent or dissent, verify/modify the 
number of shares for which you wish to cast your vote and click on “Submit” and also 
“Confirm” when prompted.

5. Upon confirmation, the message “Vote cast successfully” will be displayed. 

6. You can also take the printout of the votes cast by you by clicking on the print option on the 
confirmation page.

7. Once you confirm your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify your vote.

General Guidelines for shareholders

1. Institutional shareholders (i.e. other than individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) are required to send 



1313TH ANNUAL REPORT 2022-23

scanned copy (PDF/JPG Format) of the relevant Board Resolution/ Authority letter etc. 
with attested specimen signature of the duly authorized signatory(ies) who are authorized 
to vote, to the Scrutinizer by e-mail to connect@pmacs.in with a copy marked to evoting@
nsdl.co.in. Institutional shareholders (i.e. other than individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) can also 
upload their Board Resolution / Power of Attorney / Authority Letter etc. by clicking on 
"Upload Board Resolution / Authority Letter" displayed under "e-Voting" tab in their login.

2. It is strongly recommended not to share your password with any other person and take 
utmost care to keep your password confidential. Login to the e-voting website will be 
disabled upon five unsuccessful attempts to key in the correct password. In such an event, 
you will need to go through the “Forgot User Details/Password?” or “Physical User Reset 
Password?” option available on www.evoting.nsdl.com to reset the password. 

3. In case of any queries, you may refer the Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) for 
Shareholders and e-voting user manual for Shareholders available at the download section 
of www.evoting.nsdl.com or call on.: 022 - 4886 7000 and 022 - 2499 7000 or send a 
request to (Ms. Pallavi Mhatre, Senior Manager) at evoting@nsdl.co.in. 

Process for those shareholders whose email ids are not registered with the depositories for 
procuring user id and password and registration of e mail ids for e-voting for the resolutions 
set out in this notice:

1. In case shares are held in physical mode please provide Folio No., Name of shareholder, 
scanned copy of the share certificate (front and back), PAN (self attested scanned copy 
of PAN card), AADHAR (self attested scanned copy of Aadhar Card) by email to cs@
kannurairport.aero.

2. In case shares are held in demat mode, please provide DPID-CLID (16 digit DPID + 
CLID or 16 digit beneficiary ID), Name, client master or copy of Consolidated Account 
statement, PAN (self attested scanned copy of PAN card), AADHAR (self attested scanned 
copy of Aadhar Card) to cs@kannurairport.aero. If you are an Individual shareholders 
holding securities in demat mode, you are requested to refer to the login method explained 
at step 1 (A) i.e. Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual meeting for Individual 
shareholders holding securities in demat mode.

3. Alternatively shareholder/members may send a request to evoting@nsdl.co.in for procuring 
user id and password for e-voting by providing above mentioned documents.

4. In terms of SEBI circular dated December 9, 2020 on e-Voting facility provided by Listed 
Companies, Individual shareholders holding securities in demat mode are allowed to vote 
through their demat account maintained with Depositories and Depository Participants. 
Shareholders are required to update their mobile number and email ID correctly in their 
demat account in order to access e-Voting facility.

THE INSTRUCTIONS FOR MEMBERS FOR e-VOTING ON THE DAY OF THE AGM 
ARE AS UNDER:-

1. The procedure for e-Voting on the day of the AGM is same as the instructions mentioned 
above for remote e-voting.
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2. Only those Members/ shareholders, who will be present in the AGM through VC/OAVM 
facility and have not casted their vote on the Resolutions through remote e-Voting and are 
otherwise not barred from doing so, shall be eligible to vote through e-Voting system in the 
AGM.

3. Members who have voted through Remote e-Voting will be eligible to attend the AGM. 
However, they will not be eligible to vote at the AGM.

4. The details of the person who may be contacted for any grievances connected with the 
facility for e-Voting on the day of the AGM shall be the same person mentioned for Remote 
e-voting.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR MEMBERS FOR ATTENDING THE AGM THROUGH VC/OAVM 
ARE AS UNDER:

1. Member will be provided with a facility to attend the AGM through VC/OAVM through 
the NSDL e-Voting system. Members may access by following the steps mentioned above 
for Access to NSDL e-Voting system. After successful login, you can see link of “VC/
OAVM” placed under “Join meeting” menu against company name. You are requested to 
click on VC/OAVM link placed under Join Meeting menu. The link for VC/OAVM will be 
available in Shareholder/Member login where the EVEN of Company will be displayed. 
Please note that the members who do not have the User ID and Password for e-Voting or 
have forgotten the User ID and Password may retrieve the same by following the remote 
e-Voting instructions mentioned in the notice to avoid last minute rush.

2. Members are encouraged to join the Meeting through Laptops for better experience.

3. Further Members will be required to allow Camera and use Internet with a good speed to 
avoid any disturbance during the meeting.

4. Please note that Participants Connecting from Mobile Devices or Tablets or through Laptop 
connecting via Mobile Hotspot may experience Audio/Video loss due to Fluctuation in their 
respective network. It is therefore recommended to use Stable Wi-Fi or LAN Connection to 
mitigate any kind of aforesaid glitches.

5. Shareholders who would like to express their views/have questions during the AGM may 
send their questions in advance from their registered e-mail address mentioning their name, 
demat account number/folio number, email id, PAN, mobile number at cs@kannurairport.
aero from 11 July 2023 (9.00 a.m. IST) to 14 July 2023(5.00 p.m. IST).  The same will be 
replied by the company suitably. Those shareholders who have registered themselves as a 
speaker will only be allowed to express their views/ ask questions during the AGM. The 
Company reserves the right to restrict the number of speakers depending on the availability 
of time for the AGM.
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ന�ോട്ടീസ്

താഴെ പറയുന്ന ഇടപാടുകൾക്ായി കണ്ണൂർ ഇ�ർനാഷണൽ എയർപപാർട്ട് ലിമിറ്റഡിഴ� ഓഹരി 
ഉടമകളുഴട 13-ാമതട് മാറ്റിഴെച്ച ൊർഷിക ഴപാതുപയാഗം 2023 ജൂലല 20 െ്ാൊഴ്ച 3.30 പി.എം.-നു 
ദൃശ് മാധ്മത്ിലൂഴട (VC) / മറ്റട് ശ്രെ് ദൃശ് മാധ്മത്ിലൂഴട (OAVM) നടത്തുൊൻ തീരുമാനിച്ചതായി 
അറിയിക്കുന്നു.

സോധോരണ ഇടപോടുകൾ :

1. 2022 മോർച്് 31�് അവസോ�ിച് സോമ്പത്ിക വർഷത്ത് കമ്പ�ിയുത്ട വോർഷിക അക്കൗണ്ടുകൾ 
ഡയറക്ടർമോരുത്ട റിന്ോർട്ടും ഓഡിറ്റർമോരുത്ട റിന്ോർട്്  സഹിതടും പരിഗണിക്കുകയുടും സ്ടീകരിക്കുകയുടും 
ത്െയ്യുക.

 ‘2022 മാർച്ചട് 31നട് അെസാനിച്ച സാമ്പത്ിക െർഷഴത് കമ്പനിയുഴട ഓഡിറ്റട് ഴെയ്ത സാമ്പത്ിക 
അക്കൗണ്ടുകൾ കമ്പനി ഡയറക്ടർമാരുഴടയും ഓഡിറ്റർമാരുഴടയും റിപ്ാർട്ട് എന്നിെ സ്ീകരിച്ചു 
പരിഗണിക്കുകയും അംഗീകരിക്കുകയും ഴെയ്യുന്നു.’

2. അഞ്് വർഷനത്ക്കുള്ള കമ്പ�ിയുത്ട സ്റോറ്റ�ട്റി ഓഡിറ്റർമോരുത്ട �ിയമ�ടും.
 താഴെ പറയുന്ന പ്രപമയഴത് സാധാരണ പ്രപമയമായി കണക്ിഴലടുത്ട് അനുപയാജ്ഴമന്നട് 

പതാന്നുന്ന പക്ം പരിഗണിച്ചട് , മാറ്റങ്ങപ�ാഴടപയാ മാറ്റങ്ങ�ില്ാഴതപയാ പാസാക്കുക.

 ‘കമ്പനീസട് ആക്ടട്, 2013, ഴസക്ൻ 139, 142 പ്രകാരവം അതിനു അനുബന്ധമായി െരുന്ന മറ്റു 
െ്െസ്ഥകളും, കമ്പനീസട് (ഓഡിറ്റട് ആൻഡട് ഓഡിപറ്റർസട് ) റൂൾസട്, 2014 പ്രകാരവം (തൽക്ാലം 
പ്രാബല്ത്ിൽ െരുന്നതും കാലാകാലങ്ങ�ിൽ നട്ിലാക്ിപയക്ാവന്നതുമായ ഏഴതങ്ിലം 
നിയമപരമായ പരിഷ്ക്കരണങ്ങൾ ഉൾഴ്ഴട) 2021-22 സാമ്പത്ിക െർഷത്ിഴല അപത 
നിബന്ധനകളും െ്െസ്ഥകളും അനുസരിച്ചു, 13-ാമഴത് മാറ്റിഴെച്ച ൊർഷിക ഴപാതുപയാഗത്ിഴ� 
സമാപനം മുതൽ 18-ാം ൊർഷിക ഴപാതുപയാഗത്ിഴ� സമാപനം െഴര കമ്പനിയുഴട സ്റാറ്റ�ട്റി  
ഓഡിറ്റർമാരായി M/S. കൃഷ്ണമൂർത്ി & കൃഷ്ണമൂർത്ി, എറണാകു�ം (ഴറജിപ്രേഷൻ നമ്പർ : 001488S) 
ഴന നിയമിക്ാൻ ഓഹരി ഉടമകൾ  തീരുമാനിച്ചിരിക്കുന്നു.’

 ‘കമ്പനിയുഴട പമൽ്റഞ്ഞ തീരുമാനം നട്ിലാക്കുന്നതിനായി ഴറജി്രോർ ഓഫട് കമ്പനീസട്-നു 
ആെശ്മായ പഫാമുകൾ ഫയൽ ഴെയ്യുന്നതുൾഴ്ഴടയുള്ള എല്ാ പ്രെർത്നങ്ങളും പ്രവൃത്ികളും 
ഴെയ്ാൻ െീഫട് ഫിനാൻഷ്ൽ ഓഫീസർ അഴല്ങ്ിൽ കമ്പനി ഴസക്രട്റിക്ട് അധികാരമുഴടെന്നും 
ഇതിനാൽ തീരുമാനിച്ചിരിക്കുന്നു.’ 

ഒ്് 
ജയകൃഷ്ണൻ എസ്.

െടീഫ് ഫി�ോൻഷ്യൽ ഓഫടീസർ
തീയതി : 20 മാർച്ചട്  2023                                                                         
സ്ഥലം  : കണ്ണൂർ                                                         

ന�ോർഡിത്� ഉത്രവ് പ്രകോരടും
കണ്ണൂർ ഇ�ർ�ോഷണൽ എയർനപോർട്് ലിമിറ്റഡി�ോയി
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അടുംഗങ്ങളുത്ട ശ്രദ്ധക്്

1. പകാെിഡട് 19 മഹാമാരിയുഴട പശ്ാത്ലത്ിൽ MCA, 28 ഡിസംബർ 2022 നട്  പുറത്തുെന്ന  
General Circular 10/2022 പ്രകാരം കമ്പനിയുഴട ൊർഷിക ഴപാതുപയാഗം ദൃശ് മാധ്മങ്ങൾ 
(VC) െെിപയാ / മറ്റു ശ്രെ് ദൃശ് മാധ്മം (OAVM) െെിപയാ നടത്തുൊനായിട്ടുള്ള അംഗീകാരം 
30 ഴസപട്റ്റംബർ 2023 െഴര നീട്ി തന്നിരിക്കുന്നു. ആയതിനാൽ കമ്പനിയുഴട മാറ്റിഴെച്ച 
ഴപാതുപയാഗം ദൃശ് മാധ്മം െെി നടത്തുൊൻ തീരുമാനിച്ചിരിക്കുന്നു.

2. പയാഗത്ിൽ പഴങ്ടുക്ാനും പൊട്ട് ഴെയ്ാനും അെകാശമുള്ള ഒരംഗത്ിനട് പ്രതിപുരുഷഴന 
(പപ്രാകട് സി) നിയമിക്ാനും തനിക്കു പകരം ഇയാഴ� പൊഴട്ടു്ിൽ പഴങ്ടു്ിക്ാനും 
അെകാശമുടൊയിരിക്കുന്നതാണട്. എന്നാൽ ഈ ഴപാതുപയാഗം ദൃശ് മാധ്മം െെി 
നടത്തുന്നതിനാൽ അംഗങ്ങൾക്ട് പനരിട്ട് പഴങ്ടുപക്ടെ സാഹെര്മില്. ആയതിനാൽ 
പ്രതിപുരുഷഴന നിയമിപക്ടെ ആെശ്ം അംഗങ്ങൾക്ട് െരുന്നില്. അതുഴകാടെട് തഴന്ന 
പപ്രാകട് സി പഫാമും അഴറ്റൻഡൻസട് സ്ിപ്ം പനാട്ീസിഴനാ്ം ഉൾഴ്ടുത്ിയിട്ില്.

3. പയാഗത്ിഴ� പനാട്ീസട് കമ്പനിയിൽ രജിസ്റർ ഴെയ്തിട്ടുള്ള ഓഹരി ഉടമകളുഴട െിലാസത്ിപലക്ട് 
തപാൽ െെിയും അതാതട് ഇഴമയിൽ ഐഡിയിപലക്ട് ഇഴമയിൽ െെിയും അയക്കുന്നതാണട്. 
പയാഗത്ിഴ� പനാട്ീസട് കമ്പനിയുഴട website ലം അപ്ാഡട് ഴെയ്തിട്ടുടെട്. (www.kannurairport.
aero).

4. കമ്പനിയുഴട  അംഗത് രജിസ്ററം ഓഹരി ലകമാറ്റ പുസ്തകവം 14 ജൂലല 2023 മുതൽ 20 ജൂലല 
2023 െഴര (ഇരുദിെസവം ഉൾ്ഴട) മരെി്ിക്കുന്നതാണട് (Book closure).

5. പനാട്ീസട് അയച്ചതിനു പശഷം കട്ട് ഓഫട് തീയതിയായ 13 ജൂലല 2023 നട് മുമ്പായി കമ്പനിയുഴട 
ഓഹരികൾ Physical Form ൽ ലകെശം െയ്ക്കുന്നെപരാ ഡീമാറ്റട് രൂപത്ിൽ ഓഹരികൾ ൊങ്ങി 
കമ്പനിയുഴട അംഗത്ം സ്ീകരിക്കുന്ന െ്ക്ികൾ അല്ാത് മറ്റു ഓഹരി ഉടമകപ�ാ (സ്ഥാപനങ്ങൾ 
തുടങ്ങിയെ) പലാഗിൻ ഐഡിയും പാസ്ട് പെർഡം ലഭിക്കുന്നതിനായി evoting@nsdl.co.in എന്ന 
ഇഴമയിലിൽ അപപക്ിക്കുകപയാ കമ്പനിഴയപയാ കമ്പനിയുഴട RTAഴയപയാ ബന്ധഴ്ടുകപയാ 
ഴെഴയ്ടെതാണട്. (NSDL ഴ�യും CDSL ഴ�യും അക്കൗടെട് ഉടമകൾ) എന്നിരുന്നാൽ ഓഹരി 
ഉടമകൾ NSDLഴ� റിപമാട്ട് ഇ-പൊട്ിംഗട് സിസ്റത്ിൽ മുൻപട് രജിസ്റർ ഴെയ്തിട്ടുഴടെങ്ിൽ  
നിലെിലള്ള USER ID യും പാസ്ട് പെർഡം ഉപപയാഗിച്ചട് പൊട്ട് പരഖഴ്ടുത്ാവന്നതട് ആണട്. 
പാസ്ട് പെർഡട് ഓർമ്മയില്ാത് പക്ം www.evoting.nsdl.com ഴെബട് ലസറ്റിൽ ലഭ്മായ  
‘Forget User Details/Password’ or physical User Reset Password’ എന്ന അെസരം ഉപപയാഗിച്ചട്  
Password Reset ഴെയ്ാവന്നതും സംശയനിൊരണത്ിനായി Toll Free Number ആയ 022 
48867000, 022 24997000 ൽ ബന്ധഴ്ടാവന്നതാണട്. പനാട്ീസട് അയച്ചതിനട് പശഷം cut off 
തീയതിയായ 13 ജൂലല 2023നട് മുമ്പായി ഡീമാറ്റട് രൂപത്ിൽ ഓഹരികൾ ൊങ്ങി കമ്പനിയുഴട 
അംഗത്ം സ്ീകരിക്കുന്ന െ്ക്ികൾ ഴപാതുപയാഗ പനാട്ീസിൽ ‘Access to NSDL/CDSL evoting 
system’ എന്ന െിഭാഗത്ിൽ പറയുന്ന നിർപദേശങ്ങൾ പാലിപക്ടെതാണട്.’
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

To The Members,

 Your directors have pleasure in presenting the 13th Annual Report and Audited Accounts of 
your Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

1. COMPANY SPECIFIC  INFORMATION

1.1. FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

  The Company has commenced its commercial operations on 9 December 2018:

Particulars
For the year ended  

31 March 2022  
(Rs.  in lakhs)

For the year ended  
31 March 2021  
(Rs.  in lakhs)

Revenue from operations 7831.54 4,477.06

Other  income 563.43 550.93

I. Total Income 8394.97 5,027.99

II.  Total Expenses 22,766.96 22,876.31

III. Share of Loss of Joint 
   Venture Company - (88.52)

IV.  Loss before exceptional items 
    & tax (I- (II + III) (14,371.99) (17,936.84)

V.  Exceptional items 545.32 -

VI. Loss after exceptional items & 
   before tax (IV – V) (13,826.67) (17,936.84)

VI.   Tax Expense/(Benefit)

  1) Current tax

  2) Deferred Tax

    3) Share of Joint Venture

-

(1396.43)

-

-

558.00

4.84

VII.  Total Tax Expense / (Benefit) (1396.43) 562.84

VIII.   Loss  for the year  (VI - VII) (12,430.24) (18,499.68)

Total accumulated loss (44883.93)
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 (a) Revenue from Operations for 2021-22

• The company started generating operational revenue effective from December  
9,  2018, which consists of Aero Revenue and Non-Aero Revenue.

• The Aero Revenue is Rs. 5369.26 lakhs.

• The Non-Aero Revenue is Rs. 2462.28 Lakhs.
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• Expenditure for 2021-22 is  Rs. 22,766.96.
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(b) Change in nature of business

  There has been no change in the business of the Company during the Financial Year  
 ended 31 March 2022.

(c) Material changes and commitments, if any, affecting the financial position of the 
Company, having occurred since the end of the Year and till the date of the Report.

  There were no material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of  
 the Company during the Financial Year 2021-22.

2. MANAGEMENT

2.1 DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

 (a) Directors

 As per the provisions of the Article 63 of the Articles of Association of the Company 
the maximum strength of Board of Directors is 20. As per the Article 85 of Articles  
of Association, Hon’ble Chief Minister of Kerala will be the Chairman of the  
Company. As per the Article 89(i) of the AOA, Government of Kerala appoints Managing  
Director of the Company. As per the Article 63(iii) of the AOA, Government of  
Kerala has nominated one third of the total number of Directors. Government of  
Kerala has nominated 6 Directors including the Chairman (Hon’ble Chief Minister of 
Kerala) and Managing Director.

 As per the provisions of the Shareholders agreement entered between Kannur Airport 
& BPCL, BPCL can nominate 2 Directors when they hold 20% in the paid-up equity 
capital of  the Company. At present BPCL is holding 16.20% in the paid-up capital and 
has nominated one Director in the Board of Directors of Kannur Airport. 

 As per the provisions of the Shareholders agreement entered between Kannur Airport 
& AAL, AAI can nominate 2 Directors in the Board of Directors of Kannur Airport. 

 (b) Key Managerial Personnel 

 (i) Managing Director : Dr. V.Venu  IAS 

 (ii) Chief Financial Officer : Sri. S. Jayakrishnan ACA

 (iii) Company Secretary  : Sri. G. Gnanendrakumar FCS (Ceased to be the 
   Company Secretary on 4 November 2022 due 
   to his demise.)
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 (c)  Change in Directors as on the date of the Report.

 Your Directors hereby state that as per the provisions of Companies Act, 2013 and   
Articles of Association of the Company, from the date of the earlier report till this 
report,  the following change has occurred in the Board of Directors of the Company:

• Sri. R. Madhavan, RED SR, Nominee Director (AAI) resigned from his 
directorship due to superannuation.

2.2 INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

 Sri. M. Madhavan Nambiar (DIN:01122411)  and Smt. K. Parvathy Ammal (DIN: 
07254970) are the   Independent Directors of the Company. 

2.3    DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

 Sri. M. Madhavan Nambiar (DIN:01122411)   and Smt. K. Parvathy Ammal (DIN: 
07254970), the independent directors of the Company have furnished declaration(s) 
to the Board that they meet the criteria of ‘independence’ as provided in sub-section 
(6) of Section 149 of Companies Act, 2013.

2.4   BOARD MEETINGS

 Three meetings of the Board of Directors were held during the period under review, on 
17 July 2021, 12 November 2021 and 23 December 2021.

2.5 COMMITTEES

 (a)  Audit Committee

 The Audit Committee of Board of Directors of the Company was reconstituted 
and during the reporting period the Committee comprises of the following 
members:

Sl. No. Name of the Member Designation

1 Smt. Parvathy Ammal K 
Independent Director Chairperson

2 Sri. M. Madhavan Nambiar 
Independent Director Member

3 Smt. Geeta Venkatesh Iyer 
CGM, Finance (KR), BPCL Member

 Audit Committee of the Board met on 30 October 2021 during the year under  
consideration.
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  (b) Nomination & Remuneration Committee

 As per Section 178 (1) of the Companies Act,2013 read with Rule 6 of the Companies 
(Meetings of Board & its Power) Rules, 2014, the Board had constituted Nomination 
& Remuneration Committee. During the reporting period, the Committee comprises 
of the following members:

Sl. No. Name of the Member Designation

1 Sri. A.K. Saseendran 
Hon’ble Minister of Forest & Wildlife  Chairman

2 Sri. M. Madhavan Nambiar 
Independent Director - Member Member

3 Smt. Parvathy Ammal 
Independent Director - Member Member

 No meeting of Nomination and Remuneration Committee was held during the year 
under consideration.

 (c)      Corporate Social Responsibility Committee (CSR Committee)

 Board of Directors had decided not to take up new CSR activities till the Company 
starts making profit. It was also decided to incur the committed expenditure on CSR 
projects already approved. 

 The CSR Committee of Board of Directors of the Company during the reporting  
period comprises of the following members:

Sl. No. Name of the Member Designation

1 Sri. M.V. Govindan Master, Director Chairman

2 Sri. M. Madhavan Nambiar, IAS(Retd) 
Independent Director Member

3 Dr. V. Venu IAS, Managing Director 
Kannur Airport Member

4 Smt. Geeta Venkatesh Iyer, CGM,  
Finance (KR), BPCL Member

 (d ) Share Allotment And Transfer Committee

 This Committee is the approving authority relating to allotment and transfer of  
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shares and allied matters. The Board had constituted Share Allotment and Transfer 
Committee with the following members:

Sl. No. Name of the Member Designation

1 Sri. A.K. Saseendran, Hon’ble Minister  
of Forest & Wildlife Chairperson

2 Dr. V. Venu IAS, Managing Director,  
Kannur Airport Member

3 Smt. K. Parvathy Ammal,  
Independent Director - Member Member

 Only one meeting of Share Allotment & Transfer Committee was held during the year 
under review on 23 March 2022.

(e) Technical Committee

 This committee was formed to consider and take decisions pertaining to technical 
matters of the project and take appropriate decisions for early completion of the 
project. Technical committees were entrusted with the authority for approval of all 
tenders and proposals including commercial tenders up to Rs. 25 crores. The members 
of the Committee during the reporting period are:

Sl. No. Name of the Member Designation

1 Sri. M.V. Govindan Master, Director Chairman

2 Dr. V. Venu IAS, Managing Director,  
Kannur Airport  Member

3 Sri.  Madhavan Nambiar  
Independent Director Member

 Two meetings of Technical Committee were held during the year under review on 12 
April 2021 and 5 November 2021. 

(f) HR & Selection Committee

 This committee was formed to consider and take decisions pertaining to all HR related 
matters of the Company. The committee during the reporting period consists of the 
following members:
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Sl. No. Name of the Member Designation

1 Sri. M.V. Govindan Master, Director Chairman

2 Dr. V. Venu IAS, Managing Director,  
Kannur Airport  Member

3 Sri. M. Madhavan Nambiar, IAS (Retd),  
Independent Director Member

4 Smt. Geeta Venkatesh Iyer, CGM,  
Finance (KR), BPCL Member

 Only one meeting of HR & Selection Committee was held during the year under 
review on 05 November 2021.

 2.6 COMPANY’S POLICY ON DIRECTORS’ APPOINTMENT AND 
REMUNERATION.

  The policy relating to appointment of Directors other than Government 
nominees and nominee directors based on shareholder’s agreement, 
payment of managerial remuneration, Directors’ qualifications, positive 
attributes, independence of Directors and other related matters in 
compliance with section 178 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013. The Board has  
constituted Nomination and Remuneration Committee for this purpose.

 2.7     DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

  To the best knowledge and belief and according to the information and explanations  
obtained by us, your Directors make the following statement in terms of provisions of  
Section 134(3) (c) of the Companies Act, 2013:

 i. In the preparation of annual accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 
2022, the applicable Accounting Standards and the instructions provided under 
Schedule III of the Companies Act, 2013 have been followed.

 ii. Accounting policies selected have been applied consistently and reasonably and  
prudent judgments and estimates have been made so as to give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Company as at the end of 31 March 2022, and of 
the profit and loss of the company for the year ended on that date.

 iii. Proper and sufficient care has been taken for the maintenance of adequate  
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting 
frauds and other irregularities.

 iv. The annual accounts of the Company have been prepared on a ‘going concern’ 
basis.
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 v.  Proper systems have been devised to ensure compliance with the provisions of all  
applicable laws and that such systems are adequate and operating effectively.    

 2.8 FRAUDS REPORTED BY THE AUDITOR

  No frauds have been reported by the Auditors under Section 143 (12) of the Companies  
Act, 2013.  There are no frauds to be reported to Central Government.

3. DISCLOSURES RELATING TO SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT  
VENTURES   

 3.1 REPORT ON PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  
ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

 BPCL –KIAL Fuel Farm Pvt Ltd is the Associate Company of Kannur Airport. A  
statement containing the salient features of the financial statement of Associate  
Company in Form AOC-1, is attached as Annexure.

4. DEPOSITS

 The Company has not accepted deposit from members or the general public as on 31 March 
2022. There are no small depositors in the Company.

5. PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES AND INVESTMENTS

 There were no loans, guarantees and investments made by the Company under Section 186 
of the Companies Act, 2013 during the year under review.

6. PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES    

 Particulars of contracts or arrangements with related parties as referred to in sub-section (1) 
of Section 188 of Companies Act, 2013 and Ind AS 24 are set out in the Notes forming part 
of the accounts. These transactions are not likely to have a conflict with the interest of the  
Company. All the related party transactions are negotiated on arm’s length basis and are 
intended to protect the interest of the Company. Disclosure of particulars of contracts/ 
arrangements entered into by the Company with related parties are given in Form AOC – 2 
as attached as Annexure to this report.

7. PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES AND RELATED DISCLOSURES

 There were no employees of the Company who have drawn remuneration in excess of  
the limits set out under Section 197 (12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rules 5 
(2) and 5 (3) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) 
Rules 2014.
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8. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION,    
FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

 A. Conservation of Energy : 

 Your company is making all kinds of arrangements to pursue the Energy Conservation 
efficiency.

 B. Technology Absorption

 Your Company endeavors to adopt emerging technology domains related to  
Company’s various projects.

 Further, during the year under review, following are the details of Foreign Exchange 
Earnings and Outgo :                    

 Foreign Exchange Earning    : Nil

 Foreign Exchange Outgo       : Nil

9. RISK  MANAGEMENT

 The Company has adequate system for business risk evaluation and management to ensure 
stable and sustainable business growth and to promote pro-active approach in evaluating and 
resolving the risks associated with the business. The Company has identified the potential 
risks such as financial risk, legal and statutory risks and the internal process risk and has put 
in place appropriate measures for its mitigation. At present, the Company has not identified 
any element of risk which may threaten the existence of the Company.

10. MATERIAL ORDERS OF JUDICIAL BODIES /REGULATORS

 There were no significant and material orders passed by the regulators or courts or tribunals 
impacting the going concern status and company’s operations in future. 

11. AUDITORS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT

Statutory Auditors

 M/s Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy , Chartered Accountants  (FR No. 001488S) have 
been appointed in the casual vacancy created due to resignation of auditor, as the Statutory 
Auditors of the Company  for the FY 2021-22 as per the provisions of Section 139 (8) (i) of 
the Companies Act, 2013. 

 Basis for Adverse Opinion – Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting
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Sl. 
No.

AUDITOR’S 
COMMENT

KANNUR AIRPORT REPLY

a) Evaluating completeness and ac-
curacy of transactions relating to 
acquisition / construction of Prop-
erty, Plant and Equipment (in-
cluding Capital-Work-in Progress) 
through confirmations and their 
reconciliation with respective ven-
dor(s) as per books of account at 
regular intervals. 

1) Capitalization of Property Plant and Equipment 
had been completed in FY 2018-19 itself with 
the help of CA firm which was also reviewed 
and finalized after taking into consideration the 
comments of statutory auditors. Hence Finan-
cial Statements were compiled as per applicable  
standards from FY 2018-19 onwards in so far 
as Property, Plant and Equipment. Thereafter, 
there are no material impact on Financial State-
ments with respect to Property Plant and Equip-
ment. Changes in Financial Statements during 
the review process were made only as per the  
requirements of Statutory Auditors, for which 
there is a prior approval of the Board to make 
changes suggested by Statutory Auditors. 

2) The Company is having internal financial con-
trols for maintenance of records, recording of 
transactions, recording of receipts and expendi-
ture which are with authorizations of the man-
agement and Board of Directors of the Company. 
There is no unauthorized acquisition or dispo-
sition of assets without approval of the manage-
ment.  

3) Assets and expenditure are being acquired and 
expenditure incurred based on approvals of 
Board/ Technical / HR Committee/ Managing 
Director. 

4) There are proper approvals in place, especially on  
construction contracts. Invoices are verified by  
Consultants, Engineers of Kannur Airport and 
cleared for payment after verification by Finance 
and Accounts and approval of Managing Direc-
tor. Assets were capitalized based on these certi-
fied invoices and the classification and recording 
of Property, Plant and Equipment was carried 
out based on these invoices after an elaborate 
process taking cognizance of regulatory princi-
ples. Classification and Certification of the value 
of Property, Plant and Equipment was confirmed 
by the Contractor and Consultant.
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5) Reconciliation of vendors are carried out yearly 
and appropriate adjustments are carried out in 
the Balance Sheet for the carrying value. The 
Company is implementing quarterly reconcilia-
tion of vendor accounts from FY 2023-24.

6) Company is also having an Internal Audit  
mechanism to supplement internal financial  
controls for identifying weaknesses, if any. 

b) Financial book closing procedures 
to ensure preparation of timely, 
reliable and appropriate financial 
statements including the Compa-
ny’s process of obtaining balance 
confirmations and statement of  
accounts from vendors and cus-
tomers, and their reconciliation 
with the books of account at regu-
lar intervals. 

Quarterly book closing mechanism have been imple-
mented w.e.f 30 September 2021 properly accruing all 
expenditure and revenues on a monthly basis. Balance 
confirmations from vendors and customers and rec-
onciliation of vendors/customers are being carried 
out at the year end. 

e) The Company’s process of assess-
ing recoverability of overdue re-
ceivables and making valuation 
adjustments, as necessary

The Company has a process of assessing the recover-
ability of overdue receivables since these are being reg-
ularly monitored, discussed at the management level. 
Commercial decisions are taken after discussions and 
giving due consideration to business opportunities, 
strengths and weaknesses of the airport. The fact that 
the Company has a process of assessing the recover-
ability and how to address the same is also evident 
from the fact that some of these overdue receivables 
were taken up and addressed in the appropriate fo-
rum to recover the same. Further overdue receivable 
statements are being regularly sent out to customers 
followed up by the Account management team. 

The Company has also recovered a significant portion 
of overdue receivables from AIASL, GoAir, which con-
stituted a major portion of overdue receivables based 
on which Financial Statements for FY 2021-22 were 
compiled taking into consideration subsequent events 
post Balance Sheet date. The fact that the Company 
has accelerated the collection process is evident from 
the financial statements of FY 2021-22 compared to 
FY 2020-21.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Sl. 
No. QUALIFIED OPINION KANNUR AIRPORT REPLY

a) We refer to Note 27.2, 27.4 and Note 38 being 
the Note forming part of the standalone finan-
cial statements, explaining the de-recognition 
of deferred tax asset of Rs.220.29 lakhs relating 
MAT credit, for the reasons stated in the said 
notes.  

Considering the above, in our opinion the 
de-recognition of deferred tax asset that has 
been recorded in the standalone financial state-
ments for the year ended March 31, 2022 should 
have been recorded during the prior year(s), 
thereby requiring a restatement of the compar-
ative amounts for the prior year(s) presented, in 
accordance with Ind AS 8: Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 
Consequently, the losses for the current year are 
overstated by Rs.220.29 Lakhs and the Earnings 
per Share are overstated by Rs.(0.16) per share.

The management decided to de-recog-
nise the deferred tax asset of Rs 220.29 
during the current year after reviewing 
the possibility of setting of MAT credit 
recognized in the financial years 2014-
15 and 2015-16 against future tax liabil-
ity based on the forecasted profitability 
projections.

BASIS FOR EMPHASIS OF MATTER

Sl. 
No. COMMENT KANNUR AIRPORT REPLY

i) Note No. 3.7 being the note forming part of 
standalone financial statements, as stated there-
in, the Right of Use (ROU) has not been rec-
ognised for 353.98 acres of land given on lease 
by Government of Kerala to the Company, 
pending entering into lease agreement with the 
Government fixing the period and other terms 
and conditions of lease.

KINFRA is the Nodal Agency for  
acquiring land on behalf of Govern-
ment of Kerala (GOK) for the Airport. 
Government’s share in the equity of the 
Company is in the form of land. After 
completion of Government’s equity  
capital, the remaining land is to be  
transferred by the Government on lease 
as per relevant Government Orders.

Of the total land acquired, 1193 acres 
had been transferred to Kannur Airport 
on ownership basis and equity has 
been allotted. An extent of 353.98 acres  
within the boundary wall of the airport 
is to be to be given on lease to Kannur  
Airport against payment of lease rent.  
The original lease terms was for a
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was for a period of 60 years on token 
lease rent. However, these terms were re-
viewed subsequently by the Government 
in March 2019 and it has been decided 
that land required for operational pur-
poses will be on token lease rent, land for  
commercial purposes will be on lease rent 
of the Government with the lease rent to 
be reviewed every five years and a lease 
holiday of five years or until the Company 
reaches cash profit whichever is earlier.  

However in a meeting of the Company 
with the Government in Sept 2019, it was 
decided that land used for commercial 
activities will be on lease rent applicable 
for commercial activities. The relevant 
Government Order for this is yet to be  
issued and the Company had already  
taken up this matter with the  
Government.

Hence the lease agreement will be  
entered into after the Government  
issues the relevant Government  
Orders with the revised terms of lease  
and Right of Use of asset will be  
recognised.

ii) Note 6.1 being the note forming part of stand-
alone financial statements, regarding the Man-
agement’s assessment of recoverability of deposit 
of Rs.982.03 Lakh placed with Ministry of Home 
Affairs (MoH) towards CISF deployment, based 
on the reasons stated in the said Note

Company had deposited an amount of 
Rs 982.03 lakh as security deposit prior 
to commencement of commercial oper-
ations towards cost of deployment of 613 
CISF personnel at the airport. This was 
paid from term loan borrowings. The cost 
of deployment of CISF personnel is to be 
met from PSF Collections from embark-
ing passengers. Since PSF collections 
were inadequate due to low passenger 
volumes, this Security Deposit could not 
be recouped from PSF Collections. Hence 
the Company has taken up this matter 
with MoCA again to refund the same.
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iii) Note no.6.4 being the note forming part of 
standalone financial statements regarding the 
Management assessment of the recoverability of 
contractually receivable expenses from various 
departments of Government of Kerala amount-
ing to Rs.1151.11 lakhs, based on the reasons 
stated in the said note.

This includes payments made to Gov-
ernment Departments and ULCCS 
Ltd for various work executed outside 
the airport premises during construc-
tion stage. As these work was carried  
outside the airport premises which  
otherwise should have been carried out 
by the Government, the company has 
requested for reimbursement is actively 
pursuing the matter with the Govern-
ment and is hopeful of receiving the same.

iv) Note No.18.2 (b) being the note forming part of 
standalone financial statements, regarding the 
creation of liability towards the cost of deploy-
ment of CISF security amounting to Rs.1714.84 
lakhs (Rs.1714.84 lakhs) and showing claim for 
its reimbursement form the Ministry during ear-
lier years, for the reasons stated in the said note.

The expenditure towards meeting 
cost of deployment of CISF personnel  
deployed in the airports is to be met out 
of PSF/ASF collections from passengers 
through airline tickets as envisaged  
in Aircraft Rules 1937. This being a  
sovereign function of the Government  
to ensure national security, unity and 
integrity of the Country it is not an  
expenditure of the airport. Hence the 
expenditure is treated as both receivable 
and payable in the financial statements 
without an impact on the financial  
statements.

 Internal Auditors

 The Board of Directors had appointed M/s Varma & Varma Chartered Accountants, Kannur 
as the Internal Auditors of the Company, as per the provisions of Section 138 of Companies 
Act, 2013 and Rule 13 of Companies (Accounts) Rules 2014, for the Financial Year 2021-22

 Secretarial Auditor

 The Board of Directors had appointed M/s PMA & Associates, Company Secretaries 
Kozhikode as Secretarial Auditors of the Company, as per the provisions of Section 204 of 
Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules 2014, for the Financial Year 2021-22.  The Secretarial Audit Report   in 
Form MR-3 for the Financial Year ended 2021-22 is attached with this report as Annexure. 
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 Cost Auditor

 As per the provisions of Section 148 (1) of Companies Act, 2013, Rule (3) & (4) of Companies 
(Cost Records  & Audit) Rules 2014, Company needs to appoint a Cost Auditor as the annual 
turnover of the Company crossed Rs. 100 cr during the FY 2019 -20. Company maintains 
cost records. M/s Sankara Kumar Associates, Cost Accountants, Thiruvananthapuram, was 
appointed as Cost Auditor for the FY 2021-22.

12. COMPLIANCE WITH SECRETARIAL STANDARDS OF ICSI 

     The Company is in compliance with the Secretarial Standard on Meetings of Board of   
Directors (SS-1) and General Meetings (SS-2) issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries 
of India and approved by the Central Government.

13. ANNUAL  RETURN

 The website of the Company is www.kannurairport.aero. The annual return of the company 
has been published in the website. Link of the same is given below:

 https://kannurairport.aero/public/Annual%20Return%20FY%202021-22.pdf

14. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 According to the provisions of Section 129 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS 110) the consolidated audited financial statements are provided in the 
Annual Report. 

15. DISCLOSURES PERTAINING TO THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT  
THE WORKPLACE  (PREVENTION, PROHIBITION, AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013.

  The Company has in place a policy for prevention of Sexual Harassment at the workplace  
in line with the requirements of the Sexual Harassment of women at the workplace  
(prevention, prohibition & redressal) Act, 2013.

 Internal Complaints Committee (ICC) has been set up to redress complaints received  
regarding sexual harassment. All employees (permanent, contractual, temporary, trainees) 
are covered under this policy. The following is a summary of sexual harassment complaints 
received and disposed during the year.

 (a) Number of complaints received during the year           :  NIL

 (b) Number of complaints disposed off during the year     : NIL
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16. VIGIL MECHANISM/ WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY

 The company has established a vigil mechanism/ Whistle blower policy to deal with  
instances of fraud and mismanagement, if any. The policy has a systematic mechanism for 
directors and employees to report about unethical behavior, actual or suspected fraud or 
violation of the Company’s code of conduct or policy.Further, no person has been denied 
access to the Audit Committee. The Whistle Blower Policy is available under the following 
web link: https://kannurairport.aero/public/WB%20Policy.pdf
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Annexure
 FORM NO. AOC.1

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of  
Subsidiaries/associate companies / joint ventures

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section(3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of  
Companies (Accounts) Rules,2014)

Part “A”: Subsidiaries
(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in Rs.)

Sl.No. Particulars Details

1 Name of the subsidiary NA

2 Date on which subsidiary was acquired NA

3 Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if different from 
the holding company’s  reporting period NA

4 Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date of the 
relevant financial year in the case of foreign subsidiaries NA

5 Share capital NA

6 Reserves &surplus NA

7 Total assets NA

8 Total Liabilities NA

9 Investments NA

10 Turnover NA

11 Profit before taxation NA

12 Provision for taxation NA

13 Profit after taxation NA

14 Proposed Dividend NA

15 % of shareholding NA

Notes : The following information shall be furnished at the end of the statement:
1. Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations
2. Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year.



3513TH ANNUAL REPORT 2022-23

Part “B”: Associates and Joint Ventures
Statement pursuant to Section 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related to  

Associate Companies and Joint Ventures

Name of Associates / Joint Ventures
BPCL-KIAL Fuel

Farm Pvt Ltd.
Name 2 Name 3

1.   Latest audited Balance Sheet Date 31.03.2022

2.   Shares of Associate / Joint Ventures held 
by the company on the year end

(a) Number 23,40,000
(b) Amount of Investment in Associates/

Joint Venture 2,34,00,000

(c) Extend of Holding % 26%

Name of Associates/Joint Ventures BPCL-KIAL Fuel
Farm Pvt Ltd Name 2 Name 3

3.  Description of how there is significant 
influence

Because of 
shareholding

4. Reason why the associate/joint venture  
is not consolidated

Consolidated and 
Consolidated 

statements also 
submitted.

5.  Networth attributable to Shareholding as 
per latest audited Balance Sheet (4,64,63,801.79)

6. Profit / Loss for the year (3,84,78,392.74)

i. Considered in Consolidation

i. Not Considered in Consolidation

1. Names of associates or joint ventures which are yet to commence operations.
2. Names of associates or joint ventures which have been liquidated or sold during the year.
Note : This Form is to be certified in the same manner in which the Balance Sheet is to be certified.

For and on behalf of the Board

Sd/-
Pinarayi Vijayan

 Chairman
Place  : Kannur  DIN: 0001907262    
Date  : 30 December 2022
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Form AOC -2 
Pursuant to clause (h) of Sub-section (3) of Section 134 of the Act  and Rule 8(2)  

of the Companies (Accounts) Rule 2014

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/ arrangements entered into by the Company with 
related parties referred to in Sub-section (1) of Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including 
certain arm’s length transaction under third proviso thereto.

1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis

Sl.No. Particulars Details
1 Name (s) of the related party NA

2 Nature of relationship NA

3 Nature of contracts/arrangements/transaction NA

4 Duration of the contracts or arrangements or transaction including the value, if any NA

5 Salient terms of contracts or arrangements or transaction including the value, if any NA

6 Justification for entering into such contracts or arrangements or transaction NA

7 Date of approval by Board NA

8 Amount paid as advance, if any NA

9 Date on which the special resolution was passed in General Meeting as 
required under first proviso to Section 188 NA

2. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm’s length basis

Sl. No. Particulars Details

1 Name (s) of the related party BPCL-KIAL Fuel Farm Pvt Ltd

2 Nature of relationship
 Joint Venture Company  with BPCL. Kannur 
Airport holds 26% equity in the JV Company 
(BPCL holds 74% equity)

3 Nature of contracts/arrangements/
transaction

Lease Agreement with BPCL KIAL Fuel Farm 
Ltd, JV Company

4 Duration of the contracts or arrangements 
or transaction including the value, if any 30 years

5 Salient terms of contracts or arrangements 
or transaction including the value, if any

28,000sq.m  of land was leased out to the JV 
Company to build and operate Fuel Farm for 
Kannur Airport

6 Date of approval by Board 10 September 2014

7 Amount paid as advance, if any Nil
For and on behalf of the Directors

          
Sd/-

Place : Kannur  Chairman

Date : 30 December 2022 DIN : 0001907262
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PMA & ASSOCIATES
COMPANY SECRETARIES

29/973 E, 2nd Floor, SG Arcade KT Gopalan Road,
Kotooli P.O, Kozhikode, Kerala

E-mail: connect@pmacs.in, Ph : 0495 2743633,2744633

To,

Members
KANNUR INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT LIMITED
Regd. Office: 
KANNUR INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT (PO), 
MATTANNUR, KANNUR - 670708

Our Secretarial Audit Report of even date, for the financial year 2021-22 is to be read along with 
this letter.

Maintenance of secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the  
company. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records based on our 
audit.

We have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain  
reasonable assurance about the correctness of the contents of the Secretarial records. The verification 
was done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected in secretarial records. We believe 
that the processes and practices, we followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and Books of 
Accounts of the company.

Where ever required, we have obtained the Management representation about the compliance of 
laws, rules and regulations and happening of events etc.

The compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, 
standards is the responsibility of management. Our examination was limited to the verification  
of procedures on test basis.

The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the company  
nor of the efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs  
of the company.

       For PMA & ASSOCIATES 
Company Secretaries

                                         
Sd/-

Place : Calicut  PM Abdul Sameer FCS
Date  : 16/11/2022  CP No: 7759
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PMA & ASSOCIATES
COMPANY SECRETARIES

29/973 E, 2nd Floor, SG Arcade KT Gopalan Road,
Kotooli P.O, Kozhikode, Kerala

E-mail: connect@pmacs.in, Ph : 0495 2743633,2744633

Form MR-3
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

For the Financial year ended 31.03.2022
[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of the Companies

(Appointment and Remuneration Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,

Members
KANNUR INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT LIMITED
Regd. Office: 
KANNUR INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT (PO), 
MATTANNUR, KANNUR - 670708

We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and 
the adherence to good corporate practices by KANNUR INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT LIMITED 
(hereinafter called the Company). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a 
reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing our 
opinion thereon. 

Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed 
and other records maintained by the Company and also the information provided by the Company, 
its officers, agents and authorized representatives during the conduct of secretarial audit, We 
hereby report that in our opinion, the company has, during the audit period covering the financial 
year ended on 31st March, 2022 complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also 
that the Company has proper Board-processes and compliance mechanism in place to the extent, 
in the manner and subject to the reporting made hereinafter

1. We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other 
records maintained by KANNUR INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT LIMITED for the financial 
year ended on 31st March, 2022 according to the provisions of:

 a. The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made there under;

 b. The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the rules made there 
under;

 c. The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed there under;

 d. Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made 
thereunder to the extent of Foreign Direct Investment;
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2. We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the Secretarial Standards 
on meeting of the Board of Directors (SS-1) and Secretarial Standards on General Meeting 
(SS-2) (together referred to as Secretarial Standards) as approved by central government, 
issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of India (ICSI).  

 During the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, 
Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, Standards, etc. mentioned above.  

We further report that 

1. The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive 
Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors. The changes in the 
composition of the Board of Directors that took place during the period under review were 
carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act.  

2. As informed by management, adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule 
the Board Meetings, agenda and detailed notes on agenda were sent at least seven 
days in advance and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further information 
and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful  
participation at the meeting. The company is also following the system of circulating the 
minutes of the Board Meeting in draft form to all Directors within the time stipulated in the 
secretarial standards and get confirmation thereon

3. Majority decision is carried through while the dissenting members’ views are captured and 
recorded as part of the minutes.

We further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the company commensurate 
with the size and operations of the company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable 
laws, rules, regulations and guidelines.

As informed, the company has responded appropriately to notices received from various statutory 
/ regulatory authorities including initiating actions for corrective measures, wherever found 
necessary.

        For PMA & ASSOCIATES 
Company Secretaries

     
       Sd/-
       PM Abdul Sameer FCS
       CP No: 7759
       UDIN: F007060D001763419

Place: Calicut
Date: 16/11/2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF KANNUR INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of KANNUR  
INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT LIMITED (“the Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet 
as at March 31, 2022, and the Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive 
Loss), the Statement of Cash Flows and the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to 
us, except for the effects/possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified 
Opinion section below, the aforesaid standalone financial statements give the information 
required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true 
and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under section 
133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as 
amended, (“Ind AS”) and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the 
state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2022, and its loss, total comprehensive gain, 
its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended on that date. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion: 

i) We refer to Note Nos. 27.2, 27.4 and 39, being the Notes forming part of the 
standalone financial statements, explaining the de-recognition of deferred tax 
asset of Rs.220.29 lakhs relating MAT credit, for the reasons stated in the said 
notes.  

 Considering the above, in our opinion the de-recognition of deferred tax asset that 
has been recorded in the standalone financial statements for the year ended March 
31, 2022 should have been recorded during the earlier year(s), thereby requiring 
a restatement of the comparative amounts for the earlier year(s) presented, in 
accordance with Ind AS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors. Consequently, the losses for the current year are overstated by Rs.220.29 
Lakhs and the Earnings per Share are overstated by Rs.(0.16) per share.

 We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance 
with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of the Act. 
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Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibility for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the standalone financial 
statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the ICAI’s Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence 
obtained by us, subject to our comments in paragraph 1(a) of the section ‘Report 
on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our qualified opinion on the standalone financial statements.

Emphasis of Matters 

 We draw attention to the following matters explained in  Notes forming part of the 
standalone financial statements: 

i. Note No. 3.7 being the note forming part of standalone financial statements, as 
stated therein, the Right of Use (ROU) has not been recognised for 353.98 acres of 
land given on lease by Government of Kerala to the Company, pending entering 
into lease agreement with the Government fixing the period and other terms and 
conditions of lease.

ii. Note 6.1 being the note forming part of standalone financial statements, regarding 
the Management’s assessment of recoverability of deposit of Rs.982.03 lakhs with 
Ministry of Home Affairs (MoH) towards CISF deployment, based on the reasons 
stated in the said note. 

iii. Note no.6.4 being the note forming part of standalone financial statements  
regarding the Management assessment of the recoverability of  contractually  
receivable expenses from various departments of Government of Kerala amounting 
to Rs.1151.11 lakhs, based on the reasons stated in the said note. 

iv. Note No.18.2 (b) being the note forming part of standalone financial statements, 
regarding the creation of liability towards the cost of deployment of CISF security 
amounting to Rs.1714.84 lakhs (Rs.1714.84 lakhs) and creation of asset by way of 
claim for its reimbursement form the Ministry during earlier years, for the reasons 
stated in the said note. 

 Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters. 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon:

The Company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included in the board of directors report, but does 
not include the consolidated financial statements, standalone financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.
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Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is 
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the standalone financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Standalone Financial Statements:

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the 
Act with respect to the preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a true 
and fair view of the financial position, financial performance including other comprehensive 
loss, cash flows and changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the Ind AS and 
other accounting principles generally accepted in India. This responsibility also includes 
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act 
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and 
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively 
for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the 
preparation and presentation of the standalone financial statement that give a true and fair 
view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 
to do so. 

Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements: 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these standalone financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control. 

•  Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under 
section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion 
on whether the Company has adequate internal financial controls system in place 
and the operating effectiveness of such controls. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the standalone financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the standalone financial statements that, 
individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably 
knowledgeable user of the standalone financial statements may be influenced. We consider 
quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work 
and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified 
misstatements in the standalone financial statements. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
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relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Other Matters :

We draw attention to Note 39 of the standalone financial statements for the year ended 
March 31, 2022 regarding  our appointment as statutory auditors of the Company by the 
members in the Annual General Meeting held on 5th of November, 2022, consequent to the 
resignation of the previous Statutory Auditor of the Company.

Further, we draw attention to the said note and the audit report dated April 21, 2022 by 
the previous auditors, regarding their appointment for a term of five (5) years from the 
conclusion of the 9th annual general meeting until the conclusion of the 14th annual general 
meeting (i.e. in respect of the financial year ended March 31, 2019 until the financial year 
ending March 31, 2023). 

We understand that the Company has filed a writ petition challenging the view of the Ministry 
of Corporate Affairs that the Company is a Government Company as defined under the 
Companies Act, 2013, and its direction that the Company’s auditors need to be appointed by 
the Comptroller and Auditor General of India under section 139(5) of the Act. 

We are informed that the aforesaid direction is currently under an interim stay under order 
dated December 3, 2019 issued by the Hon’ble High Court of Kerala and that the matter 
is sub-judice. Our appointment as auditors of the Company is also subject to the eventual 
outcome of this matter. 

This was also reported under Other Matters by the previous auditors in the Auditor’s Report 
on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2019 issued on December 3, 2020, 
in the Auditor’s Report on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020 issued 
on November 12, 2021, and in the Auditor’s Report on the financial  statements for the year 
ended March 31, 2021 issued on April 21, 2022. The Board of Directors of the Company 
continue to reaffirm the appointment of auditors of the Company based on legal advice 
obtained by them. Further the shareholders of the Company, in the previous annual general 
meetings have also noted the Other Matters on appointment of statutory auditors reported 
in the audit report for the relevant years as part of approval of the Annual Accounts of the 
Company together with Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report thereon and did not have 
any reservations / comments regarding the appointment of the statutory auditors. 

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements is not modified in respect of the above 
matter. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements :

1. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit we report, that: 

a. We have sought and except for the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion 
section paragraph (a) above, obtained all the information and explanations which to the 
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best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.          

b. Except for the effects/possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified 
Opinion section above, in our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have 
been kept by the Company so far as it appears from our examination of those books. 

c. The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive 
Gain, the Statement of Cash Flows and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this 
Report are in agreement with the books of account. 

d. Except for the effects/possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified 
Opinion section above, in our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements 
comply with the Ind AS specified under Section 133 of the Act. 

e. On the basis of the written representations received from all the Directors as on March 
31, 2022, and taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors, are 
disqualified as on March 31, 2022 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 
164 (2) of the Act. 

f. With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting 
of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate 
Report in “Annexure A”. Our report expresses adverse opinion on the Company’s internal 
financial controls over financial reporting for the reasons stated therein. 

g. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance 
with the requirements of section 197(16) of the Act, as amended, in our opinion and to the 
best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, no remuneration 
has been paid by the Company to its directors during the year requiring compliance of 
the provisions of section 197 of the Act.

h. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance 
with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our 
opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us: 

i.  The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial 
position in its standalone financial statements – Refer Note No.34

ii.  The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative  
contracts for which there were any material foreseeable losses. 

iii.  There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Company. 

iv. (a) The Management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, 
no funds (which are material either individually or in the aggregate) have been 
advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium 
or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person 
or entity, including foreign entity (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, 
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whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, 
directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any 
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

(b) The Management has represented, that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, 
no funds (which are material either individually or in the aggregate) have been 
received by the Company from any person or entity, including foreign entity 
(“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing 
or otherwise, that the Company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or 
invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on 
behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, 
security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; 

(c) Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and 
appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has 
caused us to believe that the representations under (a) and (b) above, contain 
any material misstatement.

v. The Company has not declared or paid during the year in contravention of the 
provisions of section 123 of the Act.

2. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 (“the Order”) issued by the 
Central Government in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in “Annexure B” a 
statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order. 

Cochin – 16 For Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
30.12.2022 Chartered Accountants
UDIN: 23201484BGWMDM7354 Firm Regn. No. : 001488S        
                                                                       

                                                                       
      Sd/-

                                                                       
                                                                       K.T. Mohanan

Partner
Membership No.: 201484   
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ANNEXURE “A” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

(Referred to in paragraph 1(h) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory  
Requirements’ of our report of even date) 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of 
Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) 

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Kannur 
International Airport Limited (“the Company”) as of March 31, 2022 in conjunction with 
our audit of the standalone financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that 
date. 

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial 
controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the 
Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance 
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the Guidance Note”) 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the “ICAI”). These responsibilities 
include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls 
that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, 
including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and 
detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and 
the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls over financial 
reporting of the Company based on our audit conducted in accordance with the Guidance 
Note issued by the ICAI and the Standards on Auditing prescribed under Section 143(10) of 
the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. Those Standards and 
the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls 
over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated 
effectively in all material respects. 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the 
internal financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. 
Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an 
understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a 
material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained, is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over 
financial reporting. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 

A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and 
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised 
acquisition, use,  or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on 
the financial statements. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, 
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material 
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are 
subject to the risk that the internal financial control over financial reporting may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Basis for Adverse Opinion 

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit, though 
there is considerable improvement in internal financial control over financial reporting 
compared to previous year, the following material weaknesses have been identified in the 
Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting as at March 31, 2022. 

The Company did not have an appropriate internal control system for: 

a) evaluating completeness and accuracy of transactions relating to acquisition / construction 
of Property, Plant and Equipment (including Capital-Work-in Progress) through 
confirmations and their reconciliation with respective vendor(s) as per books of account 
at regular intervals. 
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b)  financial book closing procedures to ensure preparation of timely, reliable and appropriate 
financial statements including the Company’s process of obtaining balance confirmations 
and statement of accounts from vendors and customers, and their reconciliation with the 
books of account at regular intervals.

c) the Company’s process of assessing recoverability of overdue receivables and making 
valuation adjustments, as necessary. 

A ‘material weakness’ is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial 
control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented 
or detected on a timely basis. 

Adverse Opinion 

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to 
us, because of the effect of the material weakness described in Basis for Adverse Opinion 
paragraph above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company 
has not maintained adequate and effective internal financial controls over financial reporting 
and such internal financial controls over  financial reporting were not operating effectively as 
of March 31, 2022, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established 
by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note issued by the ICAI. 

We have considered the material weakness identified and reported above in determining 
the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the standalone financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2022, and the material weakness 
has affected our opinion on the said standalone financial statements of the Company and 
we have issued a qualified opinion on the standalone financial statements of the Company. 

Cochin – 16 For Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
30.12.2022 Chartered Accountants

UDIN: 23201484BGWMDM7354  Firm Regn. No. : 001488S         

                                                                       
                                                                             Sd/-

                                                                       K.T. Mohanan
Partner

Membership No.: 201484
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ANNEXURE “B” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Referred to in paragraph (2) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory  

Requirements’ section of our report of even date) 

1. In respect of Company’s Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets :

a. i) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, 
the Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including 
quantitative details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

 ii) The company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of 
intangible assets.

b.  According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has   
formulated a programme of verification of fixed assets to cover all the items in a 
phased manner over a period of 3 years, as approved by the Board of Directors and 
the process of physical verification commenced by the year end. In respect of the 
assets physically verified during the previous year, according to the information 
and explanations given to us, the Management is in the process of ascertaining 
discrepancies, if any.

c.  According to the information and explanations given to us and the records 
examined by us and based on the examination of the registered sale deed / transfer 
deed / conveyance deed / Government orders provided to us, we report that, the 
title deeds, comprising all the immovable properties of land and buildings, are held 
in the name of the Company as at the balance sheet date. Immovable properties of 
land whose title deeds have been pledged as security for loans are held in the name 
of the Company based on the confirmations directly received by us from lenders. 

  In respect of immovable properties of land admeasuring 353.98 acres, occupied 
by the Company, the terms of lease are yet to be finalized with the Government of 
Kerala and the leasehold land has not been recognized in these standalone financial 
statements (also refer to paragraph 1 in the Emphasis of Matter section of the 
Independent Auditor’s Report on the standalone financial statements).

d.  According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our 
examination of books of accounts and other relevant documents of the company, 
the Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right 
to use Assets) or Intangible Assets or both during the year.

e.  As informed to us, there are no proceedings that have initiated or are pending 
against the company for holding any Benami Property under Benami Transactions 
(Prohibition) Act, 1988 (as amended in 2016) and rules made thereunder.
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2. In respect of its Inventories :

 As explained to us, the inventories were physically verified during the year by the 
Management at reasonable intervals and no material discrepancies were noticed on 
physical verification. Since the company is not availed any working capital facility 
exceeding Rs.500 lakhs, the requirement of reporting under clause (2) (b) is not applicable 
and hence not commented upon.

3. In respect of loans, secured or unsecured to companies, firms Limited Liability 
Partnership or other parties covered in the register maintained under section 189 of 
the Companies Act 2013:

a. The company has not granted any loan, secured or unsecured to companies, firms or 
other parties covered in the register maintained under section 189 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 during the year.

b. During the year, the Company has not made any investments, provided guarantees 
or given security and thus the terms and conditions of the grant are not prejudicial 
to the company’s interest;

c. Since Company has not granted loans and advances in the nature of loans, schedule 
of repayment of principal and payment of interest is not applicable to the company.

d. Company has not provided any loans or advances to group entities and to others and 
so there is no outstanding balance as at the end of reporting period.

e. The Company has not renewed or extended or granted fresh loan to settle the over-
dues of existing loans given to the same parties.

f. The company has not granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans either 
repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or period of repayment during 
the year.

4. In respect of loans, investments, guarantees, and security whether the provisions of 
section 185 and I86 of the Companies Act, 2013 have been complied with:

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the 
company has complied with the provisions of section 185 and I86 of the Companies Act, 
2013 In respect of loans, investments, guarantees, and security.

5. In respect of deposits accepted or accepted amounts which are deemed to be deposit, 
whether the directives issued by Reserve Bank of India and the provisions of sections 
73 to 76 or any other relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules 
framed thereunder, and the nature of contravention, if any:
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The Company has not accepted deposits from the public during the year and hence, the 
directives issued by the Reserve Bank of India and the provisions of sections 73 to 76 
or any other relevant provisions of the Act and the Companies (Acceptance of deposit) 
Rules, 2015 with regard to the deposits accepted from the public are not applicable.

6. In respect of maintenance of cost records  specified by the Central Government 
under section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013,  whether or not such accounts and 
records have been so made and maintained: 

The maintenance of cost records has been specified by the Central Government  
under section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of Aeronautical Services of 
the Company. We have broadly reviewed the cost records maintained by the Company  
pursuant to the Companies (Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 2014, as amended,  
prescribed by the Central Government under sub-section (1) of Section 148 of the  
Companies Act, 2013, and are of the opinion that, prima facie, the prescribed cost records 
have been made and maintained. We have, however, not  made a detailed examination of 
the cost records with a view to determine whether they are accurate or complete.

7. In respect of statutory dues :

(a) According to the information and explanations furnished to us and according to 
the examination of the records, the company is regular in depositing undisputed 
statutory dues including income-tax, wealth tax, service tax, duty of customs, 
value added tax, cess, goods and service tax and any other statutory dues with 
the appropriate authorities during the year.  There are no arrears of outstanding 
undisputed statutory dues as at the last day of the financial year concerned for a 
period of more than six months from the date they became payable.

(b)  According to the information and explanation given to us, there are no dues of 
income tax, sales tax, service tax, duty of customs, duty of exercise, value added 
tax, goods and service tax outstanding on account of any dispute, except for the 
following cases :

Name of the 
Statute

Nature of 
Dues

Amount 
(Rupees)

Period to which 
it relates

Forum where dispute 
is pending

Income Tax 
Act, 1961 Penalty ` 53.67 

lakhs
2017-18

(AY 2018-19)
Commissioner of  

Income Tax (Appeals)

Income Tax 
Act, 1961 Penalty ` 1.50 lakhs 2018-19

(AY 2017-18)
Commissioner of  

Income Tax (Appeals)

Income Tax 
Act, 1961 Penalty ` 531.41 

lakhs
2016-17

(AY 2017-18)
Commissioner of  

Income Tax (Appeals)
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Note : The appeal filed for the Assessment Year 2019-20 against disallowance of claim u/s 
35AD and for the Assessment Year 2014-15 for addition of interest to taxable income not 
considered, since there is no outstanding tax liability.

8. Whether any transactions not recorded in the books of account have been surrendered 
or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax 
Act, 1961 (43 of 1961), if so, whether the previously unrecorded income has been 
properly recorded in the books of account during the year: 

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the records 
of the company examined by us, there are no such transactions which have omitted to 
record in the books of accounts.

9. In respect of company defaulted in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the 
payment of interest thereon to any lender:

Based on our audit procedures performed for the purpose of reporting the true and fair 
view of   the financial statements and according to the information and explanations 
given to us:

a. Since the term loan outstanding’s were restructured and new Funded Interest Term 
Loans (FITL) has been sanctioned with moratorium, the company has not defaulted 
in repayment of dues to the bank during the year.

b. The company has not been declared as wilful defaulter by any bank or financial 
institution or other lender.

c. The term loans taken by the company have been applied for the purpose for which 
the loans were obtained.

d. The Company has not utilized the funds raised on short term basis for long term 
purposes.

e. The Company has not taken any funds from any entity or person on account of or 
to meet the obligations of its subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

f. The company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of securities held 
in its subsidiaries, joint ventures or associate companies.

10. In respect of moneys raised by way of initial public offer or further public offer  
(including debt instruments) and term loans were applied for the purposes for which 
those are raised and the preferential allotment or private placement of shares or  
convertible debentures (fully, partially or optionally convertible) during the year. If 
not, providing the details:
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Based on our audit procedures performed for the purpose of reporting the true and 
fair view of the financial statements and according to the information and explanations  
given to us, the company has not raised moneys by way of initial public offer or further  
public offer including debt instruments and term Loans. The Company has made a  
private placement of shares during the year and the same is in accordance with section 
42 and section 62 of the Companies Act, 2013 and have been used for the purposes for 
which they were raised.

In respect of private placement of shares during the previous year, we report that  
the amounts raised have been applied by the Company during the year for the purposes 
for which the funds were raised, other than temporary deployment pending application, 
except for: 

Nature of securi-
ties

Purpose for which 
funds raised

Opening 
Unutilised 

Balance 
(Rs. in 
Lakh)

Amount 
utilized for 

the other 
purpose (Rs. 

in Lakh)

Amount uti-
lised for the 
purpose for 
which fund 

has been 
raised (Rs. in 

Lakh)

Un-utilized 
balance as at 
Balance sheet 
date including 
temporary de-

ployment pend-
ing application 

(Rs. in Lakh)

Equity Shares
For long term 

financial needs 
of the company

3336.00 0 1623.00 1713.00

11. In respect of reporting on Fraud :

a. Based on our audit procedures performed for the purpose of reporting the true  
and fair view of the financial statements and according to the information and  
explanations given to us, no fraud by the Company or on the Company has been 
noticed or reported during the year.

b. As per the information and explanations provided to us, Report under sub-section 12 
of Section 143 of Companies Act has not been filed by the Auditors in form ADT- 4 
as prescribed under rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the 
Central Government.  

c. According to explanations and information given to us, we have considered the  
effectiveness of whistle blower mechanism in the company. There is no whistle-  
blower complaint received by the company during the year.

12. In respect of reporting on Nidhi Company :

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the  
Company is not a Nidhi company. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xii) of the Order is not 
applicable. 
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13. In respect on Related Party Transactions:

Based on our audit procedures performed for the purpose of reporting the true and fair 
view of the financial statements and according to the information and explanations given 
to us, transactions with related parties are in compliance with sections 177 and 188 of the 
Companies Act 2013 and details of such transactions have been disclosed in the financial 
statements as required by the applicable accounting standards.

14. Reporting on Internal Audit:

According to the information and explanation given to us and based on our examination 
of the records of the Company, we report that the Company has an internal audit system 
commensurate with the size and the nature of its business. Based on our audit procedure 
performed and the explanations and information provided to us, we have considered the 
report of Internal Auditors for the period under audit. 

15. Reporting on Non-Cash Transactions with Directors:

Based on our audit procedures performed for the purpose of reporting the true and 
fair view of the financial statements and according to the information and  explanations 
given to us, the Company has not entered into non-cash transactions with directors or 
persons connected with him. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xv) of the Order is not applicable 
to the Company and hence not commented upon. 

16. In respect of company required to be registered under section 45-IA of the Reserve 
Bank of India Act, 1934 and if so, whether the registration has been obtained:

In our opinion, the Company is not required to be registered under section 45-IA of the 
Reserve Bank of India Act 1934 and accordingly the provisions of paragraph 3(xvi) of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company and hence not commented upon. 

17. In respect of reporting of cash losses:

Based on our audit procedures performed for the purpose of reporting the true and 
fair view of the financial statements and according to the information and explanations 
given to us, the company has incurred cash losses in the Financial Year and also in the 
immediately preceding Financial Year.

18. Reporting on Auditors Resignation :

According to the information and explanations given to us, the previous statutory 
auditors of the Company had been resigned before completion of the terms of office. We 
have considered the issue, objections or concerns, if any raised by the outgoing auditors.
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19. Reporting on Financial Position:

Based on our audit procedures performed for the purpose of reporting the true and fair 
view of the financial statements and according to the information and explanations given 
to us, and on the basis of the financial ratios, ageing and expected dates of realization of 
financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, other information accompanying the 
financial statements, the auditor’s knowledge of the Board of Directors and management 
plans and also referring to note no.32 forming part of financial statements.

20. Reporting on CSR Compliance:

Based on our audit procedures performed for the purpose of reporting the true and fair 
view of the financial statements and according to the information and explanations given 
to us, CSR is not applicable to the company and hence not commented upon.

Cochin – 16   For Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
30.12.2022  Chartered Accountants

UDIN: 23201484BGWMDM7354 Firm Regn. No. : 001488S
                                                                      

                                                                  
          Sd/-

                                                                       K.T. Mohanan
Partner

Membership No.: 201484
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF KANNUR INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated financial statements of KANNUR  
INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT LIMITED (“the Parent/ the Company”), which comprise the  
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2022, and the Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other  
Comprehensive Loss), the Statement of Cash Flows and the Statement of Changes in Equity for 
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory  
information. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
except for the effects/possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion 
section below, the aforesaid Consolidated financial statements give the information required by 
the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act read 
with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, (“Ind AS”) and  
other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the Consolidated state of affairs of the 
Parent and its jointly controlled entity as at March 31, 2022, and its loss, total comprehensive gain, 
its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended on that date. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion: 

i) We refer to Note Nos. 27.2, 27.4 and 39, being the Notes forming part of the Consolidated 
financial statements, explaining the de-recognition of deferred tax asset of Rs.220.29 lakhs 
relating MAT credit, for the reasons stated in the said notes.  Considering the above, in our 
opinion the de-recognition of deferred tax asset that has been recorded in the Consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022 should have been recorded during 
the earlier year(s), thereby requiring a restatement of the comparative amounts for the earlier 
year(s) presented, in accordance with Ind AS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors. Consequently, the losses for the current year are overstated by Rs.220.29 
Lakhs and the Earnings per Share are overstated by Rs.(0.16) per share.

 We conducted our audit of the Consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 
Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities 
under those Standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit 
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of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Parent in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India (ICAI) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
Consolidated financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made 
thereunder and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the ICAI’s Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained by 
us, subject to our comments in paragraph 1(a) of the section ‘Report on Other Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements’ is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified 
opinion on the Consolidated financial statements.

Emphasis of Matters 

We draw attention to the following matters explained in  Notes forming part of the Consolidated 
financial statements: 

i) Note No. 3.7 being the note forming part of Consolidated financial statements, as stated 
therein, the Right of Use (ROU) has not been recognised for 353.98 acres of land given on 
lease by Government of Kerala to the Company, pending entering into lease agreement with 
the Government fixing the period and other terms and conditions of lease.

ii) Note 6.1 being the note forming part of Consolidated financial statements, regarding the 
Management’s assessment of recoverability of deposit of Rs.982.03 lakhs with Ministry of 
Home Affairs (MoH) towards CISF deployment, based on the reasons stated in the said note. 

iii) Note no.6.4 being the note forming part of Consolidated financial statements regarding the 
Management assessment of the recoverability of contractually receivable expenses from  
various departments of Government of Kerala amounting to Rs.1151.11 lakhs, based on the 
reasons stated in the said note. 

iv) Note No.18.2 (b) being the note forming part of Consolidated financial statements,  
regarding the creation of liability towards the cost of deployment of CISF security  
amounting to Rs.1714.84 lakhs (Rs.1714.84 lakhs) and creation of asset by way of claim 
for its reimbursement form the Ministry during earlier years, for the reasons stated in the  
said note. 

 Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters. 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon :

The Parent’s Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the board of directors report, but does not include the  
consolidated financial statements, Consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and  
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 



Manikkath Cross Road, Kochi - 682016
Ph. No. 0484-4020862 / 3511126 / 7994119875 | Infomail@kandkca.co.in

Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants

120 13TH ANNUAL REPORT 2022-23

In connection with our audit of the Consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the Consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the 
course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements :

The Parent’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act 
with respect to the preparation of these Consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view of the financial position, financial performance including other comprehensive loss, cash 
flows and changes in equity of the Parent in accordance with the Ind AS and other accounting 
principles generally accepted in India. The respective Board of Directors of the Parent and its jointly 
controlled entity are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Parent and its jointly controlled 
entity and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application 
of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, 
that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 
records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Consolidated financial statement that 
give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
which has been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the 
Directors of the Parent, as aforesaid.  

In preparing the Consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the Parent 
and its jointly controlled entity are responsible for assessing the ability of the Parent and its jointly 
controlled entity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The respective Board of Directors of the Parent and its jointly controlled entity are also responsible 
for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Parent and its jointly controlled entity. 

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements : 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain  
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Consolidated financial  
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•  Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the 
Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Parent has adequate 
internal financial controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of  
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of  
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability e Parent and 
its jointly controlled entity to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the Consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Parent and 
its jointly controlled entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Consolidated financial  
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the Consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the  
entities or business activities within the Parent and its jointly controlled entity to express 
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,  
supervision and performance of the audit of the financial statements of such entities  
included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are independent auditors. For 
the other entities included in the consolidated financial statements, which have been audited 
by other auditor, such other auditor remain responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audits carries out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

 Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the Consolidated financial statements that,  
individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably 
knowledgeable user of the Consolidated financial statements may be influenced. We consider 
quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work 
and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified 
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misstatements in the Consolidated financial statements. 

 We communicate with those charged with governance of the Parent and such other entity 
included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

 We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Other Matters :

a) We draw attention to Note 39 of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
March 31, 2022 regarding our appointment as statutory auditors of the Company by the 
members in the Annual General Meeting held on 5th of November, 2022, consequent to the 
resignation of the previous Statutory Auditor of the Company.

 Further, we draw attention to the said note and the audit report dated April 21, 2022 by  
the previous auditors, regarding their appointment for a term of five (5) years from the  
conclusion of the 9th annual general meeting until the conclusion of the 14th annual general 
meeting (i.e. in respect of the financial year ended March 31, 2019 until the financial year 
ending March 31, 2023). 

 We understand that the Company has filed a writ petition challenging the view of the Ministry 
of Corporate Affairs that the Company is a Government Company as defined under the 
Companies Act, 2013, and its direction that the Company’s auditors need to be appointed by 
the Comptroller and Auditor General of India under section 139(5) of the Act. 

 We are informed that the aforesaid direction is currently under an interim stay under order 
dated December 3, 2019 issued by the Hon’ble High Court of Kerala and that the matter 
is sub-judice. Our appointment as auditors of the Company is also subject to the eventual  
outcome of this matter. 

 This was also reported under Other Matters by the previous auditors in the Auditor’s Report 
on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2019 issued on December 3, 2020, 
in the Auditor’s Report on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020 issued 
on November 12, 2021, and in the Auditor’s Report on the financial statements for the year 
ended March 31, 2021 issued on April 21, 2022. The Board of Directors of the Company 
continue to reaffirm the appointment of auditors of the Company based on legal advice 
obtained by them. Further the shareholders of the Company, in the previous annual general 
meetings have also noted the Other Matters on appointment of statutory auditors reported 
in the audit report for the relevant years as part of approval of the Annual Accounts of the 
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Company together with Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report thereon and did not have 
any reservations / comments regarding the appointment of the statutory auditors. 

b) The consolidated financial statements also include the Parent’s share of net loss of Rs.Nil for 
the year ended March 31, 2022, as considered in the consolidated financial statements, in 
respect of one jointly controlled entity, whose financial statement have not been audited by 
us. Attention is invited to Note No.5.1 being the note forming part of consolidated financial 
statements, explaining the details total comprehensive loss incurred by the jointly controlled 
entity. These financial statements and the audit report thereon have been furnished to us 
by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as 
it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of the jointly controlled entity, 
and our report in terms of subsection (3) of section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the 
aforesaid jointly controlled entity is based solely on the report of the other auditor. 

 Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements above and our report on Other Legal 
and Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters including 
our reliance on the work done and the report of the other auditor.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements :

1. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit we report, that: 

a. We have sought and except for the matters described in the Basis for Qualified  
Opinion section paragraph (a) above, obtained all the information and explanations 
which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our 
audit. 

b. Except for the effects/possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for  
Qualified Opinion section above, in our opinion, proper books of account as required 
by law have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from our examination of 
those books. 

c. The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including Other 
Comprehensive Gain, the Statement of Cash Flows and Statement of Changes in  
Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account. 

d. Except for the effects/possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified 
Opinion section above, in our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements 
comply with the Ind AS specified under Section 133 of the Act. 

e. On the basis of the written representations received from all the Directors as on March 
31, 2022, and taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors are  
disqualified as on March 31, 2022 from being appointed as a director in terms of 
Section 164 (2) of the Act. 

f. With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting 
of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our 



Manikkath Cross Road, Kochi - 682016
Ph. No. 0484-4020862 / 3511126 / 7994119875 | Infomail@kandkca.co.in

Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants

124 13TH ANNUAL REPORT 2022-23

separate Report in “Annexure A” which is based on the auditors’ reports of the Parent  
company and jointly controlled entity incorporated in India. Our report expresses  
adverse opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting 
for the reasons stated therein. 

g. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance 
with the requirements of section 197(16) of the Act, as amended, in our opinion 
and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, no  
remuneration has been paid by the Company to its directors during the year requiring 
compliance of the provisions of section 197 of the Act.

h. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance 
with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our 
opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given  
to us: 

i.  The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial  
position in its consolidated financial statements of the Parent and its joint  
controlled entity – Refer Note No.34

ii.  The Parent and its joint controlled entity Company did not have any long- 
term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material 
foreseeable losses. 

iii.  There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor  
Education and Protection Fund by the of the Parent and its joint controlled entity. 

2. With respect to the matters specified in paragraphs 3(xxi) and 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s 
Report) Order, 2020 (“CARO”/ “the Order”)  issued by the Central Government in terms 
of Section 143(11) of the Act, to be included in the Auditor’s report, according to the 
information and explanations given to us, and based on the CARO reports issued by us and the  
auditors of jointly controlled entity included in the consolidated financial statements to 
which reporting under CARO is applicable, as provided to us by the Management of the 
Company, we report that there are no qualifications or adverse remarks by the respective 
auditors in the CARO reports of the said companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements

Cochin – 16 For Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
30.12.2022 Chartered Accountants

UDIN: 23201484BGWMDN9771 Firm Regn. No. : 001488S                                                                            
Sd/-

                                                                       K.T. Mohanan
Partner

Membership No.: 201484
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ANNEXURE “A” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

(Referred to in paragraph 1(h) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory  
Requirements’ of our report of even date) 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of 
Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) 

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of 
and for the year March 31, 2022, we have audited the internal financial controls over financial  
reporting of Kannur International Airport Limited (hereinafter referred to as (“the Parent”/”the 
Company”) and its jointly controlled company, which are companies incorporated in India, as of 
that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

The respective Board of Directors of the parent and jointly controlled company, which are 
companies incorporated in India, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal 
financial controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the 
Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on 
Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the Guidance Note”) issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the “ICAI”). These responsibilities include the design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating 
effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to 
company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable 
financial information, as required under the Act. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls over financial 
reporting of the e Parent, and jointly controlled company, which are companies incorporated in 
India based on our audit conducted in accordance with the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI and 
the Standards on Auditing prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable 
to an audit of internal financial controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting was established and 
maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects. 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the 
internal financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our 
audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding 
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of internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the other 
auditors of the jointly controlled company, which are companies incorporated in India, in terms 
of their reports referred to in the Other Matter Paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our adverse audit opinion on the internal financial controls system over financial 
reporting of the Parent, and its jointly controlled company, which are companies incorporated in 
India. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 

A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and 
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of 
the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors 
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting,  
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material  
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any  
evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject 
to the risk that the internal financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate  
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate. 

Basis for Adverse Opinion 

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit, though there 
is considerable improvement in internal financial control over financial reporting compared to 
previous year, the following material weaknesses have been identified in the Company’s internal 
financial controls over financial reporting as at March 31, 2022. 
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The Company did not have an appropriate internal control system for : 

a) Evaluating completeness and accuracy of transactions relating to acquisition / 
construction of Property, Plant and Equipment (including Capital-Work-in Progress) 
through confirmations and their reconciliation with respective vendor(s) as per books 
of account at regular intervals. 

b)  Financial book closing procedures to ensure preparation of timely, reliable and 
appropriate financial statements including the Company’s process of obtaining 
balance confirmations and statement of accounts from vendors and customers, and 
their reconciliation with the books of account at regular intervals. 

c)  The Company’s process of assessing recoverability of overdue receivables and making 
valuation adjustments, as necessary. 

A ‘material weakness’ is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial  
control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or 
detected on a timely basis. 

Adverse Opinion 

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and 
based on the consideration of the reports of the other auditors referred to in the Other Matter 
paragraph below, the Parent, because of the effect of the material weakness described in Basis for 
Adverse Opinion paragraph above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria,  
the Parent has not maintained adequate and effective internal financial controls over financial  
reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were not operating  
effectively as of March 31, 2021, and the jointly controlled company which is a company  
incorporated in India, has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with  
reference to its financial statements and such internal controls were operating effectively as of 
March 31, 2021, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the 
Parent considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on 
Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India 

We have considered the material weakness identified and reported above in determining the nature, 
timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the Consolidated financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended March 31, 2022, and the material weakness has affected our opinion 
on the said Consolidated financial statements of the Company and we have issued a qualified 
opinion on the Consolidated financial statements of the Company. 
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Other Matter 

Our aforesaid report under section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating  
effectiveness of the internal financial control over financial reporting insofar as it relates to 
one jointly controlled entity, which is a company incorporated in India, is based solely on the  
corresponding reports of the auditors of such company incorporated in India. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matter.

Cochin – 16 For Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
30.12.2022                                              Chartered Accountants

UDIN: 23201484BGWMDN9771   Firm Regn. No. : 001488S         
         

                                 

                                           Sd/-
                                                                       K.T. Mohanan

Partner
Membership No.: 201484
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Kannur International Airport Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
All amounts are in ₹.Lakh unless otherwise stated

5.1

6 Other financial assets

Particulars
As at

March 31, 2022
As at

March 31, 2021

Non Current
Security Deposits (refer Note 6.1 below)                        1,162.69                        1,135.93 

Earmarked deposits with remaining maturity period greater than 12 
months (Refer Note 6.2 below)

                            19.94                             18.00 

Other Current Asset - Assets held for Sale (Refer note 6.3)
                            78.98                                   -   

Total 1,261.61                       1,153.93                       

Current

Contractually reimbursable expenses (Refer Note 6.4)

(Receivable from Kerala State Government Departments) 1,151.11                       2,225.67                       

Accrued lease rentals (as per Ind AS 116) 1,108.32                       757.52                          

Total 2,259.43                       2,983.19                       

6.1 Security deposit include Rs.982.03 lakhs (Rs.982.03 lakhs) being the deposit placed with Ministry of Home Affairs
(MoH), based on demand letter dated May 7, 2018, towards deployment of CISF staff in the Airport. Subsequently, the
parent requested vide letter dated October 29, 2019 for a refund of such deposit from MoH. The MoH has responded
vide letter dated December 2, 2019, that upon clearance from Ministry of Civil Aviation (MoCA) for refunding the
deposit the same shall be processed. As per the discussions held with the MoCA on June 4, 2021, the parent was
informed that the matter was taken up with the MoH and they stated that the fund was deposited in the consolidated
fund of India and the fund is non-refundable. 

BPCL-KIAL FUEL FARM PRIVATE LIMITED (BKFFPL) was incorporated in May 2015 with an equity participation of
74% by Bharat Petroleum Corporation Limited (BPCL) and 26% by Kannur International Airport Limited. BKFFPL
was formed to design, construct, commission and operate the Fuel Farm at Kannur International Airport for the
supply of Aviation Turbine Fuel (ATF) on an exclusive basis. The Operational result of the jointly controlled entity
during the year resulted in total comprehensive loss of Rs 384.78 lakh (Rs 605.78 Lakh). Since the value of investment
had already been exhausted considering the proportionate share of total comprehensive loss incurred during earlier
years, no adjustment is made for the proporionate comprehensive loss incurred during the current year, in the
consildated financial statements. The present negative vaue of investment considering the loss incurred by the jointly
controlled eintity as on the date of Balance sheet is of Rs 120.81 Lakh (Rs 20.77 Lakh)
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Kannur International Airport Ltd.
Kannur International Airport PO,
Mattannur, Kannur-670708

LIAISON OFFICE
Kannur International Airport Ltd.
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